Sustento del uso justo de Materiales Protegidos

derechos de autor para fines educativos



Universidad para la Cooperación Internacional



UCI

Sustento del uso justo de materiales protegidos por derechosde autor para fines educativos

El siguiente material ha sido reproducido, con fines estríctamente didácticos e ilustrativos de los temas en cuestion, se utilizan en el campus virtual de la Universidad para la Cooperación Internacional – UCI - para ser usados exclusivamente para la función docente y el estudio privado de los estudiantes en el curso Tecnología y Manejo de información perteneciente al programa académico Maestría en Inocuidad de Alimentos.

La UCI desea dejar constancia de su estricto respeto a las legislaciones relacionadas con la propiedad intelectual. Todo material digital disponible para un curso y sus estudiantes tiene fines educativos y de investigación. No media en el uso de estos materiales fines de lucro, se entiende como casos especiales para fines educativos a distancia y en lugares donde no atenta contra la normal explotación de la obra y no afecta los intereses legítimos de ningún actor .

La UCI hace un USO JUSTO del material, sustentado en las excepciones a las leyes de derechos de autor establecidas en las siguientes normativas:

- a- Legislación costarricense: Ley sobre Derechos de Autor y Derechos Conexos, No.6683 de 14 de octubre de 1982 - artículo 73, la Ley sobre Procedimientos de Observancia de los Derechos de Propiedad Intelectual, No. 8039 – artículo 58, permiten el copiado parcial de obras para la ilustración educativa.
- b- Legislación Mexicana; Ley Federal de Derechos de Autor; artículo 147.
- c- Legislación de Estados Unidos de América: En referencia al uso justo, menciona: "está consagrado en el artículo 106 de la ley de derecho de autor de los Estados Unidos (U.S,Copyright - Act) y establece un uso libre y gratuito de las obras para fines de crítica, comentarios y noticias, reportajes y docencia (lo que incluye la realización de copias para su uso en clase)."
- d- Legislación Canadiense: Ley de derechos de autor C-11– Referidos a Excepciones para Educación a Distancia.
- e- OMPI: En el marco de la legislación internacional, según la Organización Mundial de Propiedad Intelectual lo previsto por los tratados internacionales sobre esta materia. El artículo 10(2) del Convenio de Berna, permite a los países miembros establecer limitaciones o excepciones respecto a la posibilidad de utilizar lícitamente las obras literarias o artísticas a título de ilustración de la enseñanza, por medio de publicaciones, emisiones de radio o grabaciones sonoras o visuales.

Además y por indicación de la UCI, los estudiantes del campus virtual tienen el deber de cumplir con lo que establezca la legislación correspondiente en materia de derechos de autor, en su país de residencia.

Finalmente, reiteramos que en UCI no lucramos con las obras de terceros, somos estrictos con respecto al plagio, y no restringimos de ninguna manera el que nuestros estudiantes, académicos e investigadores accedan comercialmente o adquieran los documentos disponibles en el mercado

editorial. sea directamente los documentos, o por medio de bases de datos científicas, pagando ellos mismos los costos asociados a dichos accesos.



Available online at www.sciencedirect.com



INTERNATIONAL JOURNAL OF Food Microbiology

International Journal of Food Microbiology 112 (2006) 181-194

www.elsevier.com/locate/ijfoodmicro

Review

Information systems in food safety management $\stackrel{\leftrightarrow}{\sim}$

T.A. McMeekin^{a,*}, J. Baranyi^b, J. Bowman^a, P. Dalgaard^c, M. Kirk^d, T. Ross^a, S. Schmid^e, M.H. Zwietering^f

^a Australian Food Safety Centre of Excellence, University of Tasmania, Private Bag 54, Hobart, TAS 7001, Australia

^b Institute of Food Research, Norwich Research Park, Colney, Norwich NR4 7UA, United Kingdom

^c Danish Institute for Fisheries Research, Department of Seafood Research, Ministry of Food, Agriculture and Fisheries, DTU, 2800 Kgs. Lyngby, Denmark

^d OzFoodNet, Department of Health and Ageing, GPO Box 9848, MDP 15, Canberra, ACT 2601, Australia

^e EAN Australia, Axxess Corporate Park, 100/45 Gilby Road, Mt Waverley, VIC 3149 Australia

^f Laboratory of Food Microbiology, PO Box 8129, 6700EV Wageningen, The Netherlands

Abstract

Information systems are concerned with data capture, storage, analysis and retrieval. In the context of food safety management they are vital to assist decision making in a short time frame, potentially allowing decisions to be made and practices to be actioned in real time.

Databases with information on microorganisms pertinent to the identification of foodborne pathogens, response of microbial populations to the environment and characteristics of foods and processing conditions are the cornerstone of food safety management systems. Such databases find application in:

- Identifying pathogens in food at the genus or species level using applied systematics in automated ways.
- Identifying pathogens below the species level by molecular subtyping, an approach successfully applied in epidemiological investigations of foodborne disease and the basis for national surveillance programs.
- Predictive modelling software, such as the Pathogen Modeling Program and Growth Predictor (that took over the main functions of Food Micromodel) the raw data of which were combined as the genesis of an international web based searchable database (*ComBase*).
- Expert systems combining databases on microbial characteristics, food composition and processing information with the resulting "pattern match" indicating problems that may arise from changes in product formulation or processing conditions.
- Computer software packages to aid the practical application of HACCP and risk assessment and decision trees to bring logical sequences to establishing and modifying food safety management practices.

In addition there are many other uses of information systems that benefit food safety more globally, including:

- Rapid dissemination of information on foodborne disease outbreaks via websites or list servers carrying commentary from many sources, including the press and interest groups, on the reasons for and consequences of foodborne disease incidents.
- Active surveillance networks allowing rapid dissemination of molecular subtyping information between public health agencies to detect foodborne outbreaks and limit the spread of human disease.
- Traceability of individual animals or crops from (or before) conception or germination to the consumer as an integral part of food supply chain management.
- O Provision of high quality, online educational packages to food industry personnel otherwise precluded from access to such courses.

© 2006 Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved.

Keywords: Information systems; Databases; Applied systematics; Applications software; Knowledge management; RFID technology

* Corresponding author. *E-mail address:* Tom.McMeekin@utas.edu.au (T.A. McMeekin).

^{*} This paper was presented at the 19th International ICFMH Symposium, Food Micro 2004, Potorož Slovenia, 12-16 September 2004.

^{0168-1605/\$ -} see front matter @ 2006 Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved. doi:10.1016/j.ijfoodmicro.2006.04.048

Contents

1.	Introduction	182							
2.	Foodborne pathogens: enumeration and identification.	182							
3.	The philosophy underlying databases								
4.	Information systems and microbial systematics	184							
	4.1. Sources of further information	185							
5.	Information systems and investigation of foodborne diseases.	185							
	5.1. Epidemiological surveillance of foodborne diseases	186							
	5.2. Outbreak detection	186							
	5.3. Response to outbreaks	187							
6.	Predictive microbiology application software	187							
7.	Quantitative microbial risk assessment software.	188							
8.	The use of decision support systems in food safety management.	189							
	8.1. Decision support systems and expert systems	189							
	8.2. Food safety control.	189							
	8.3. Hazard identification	189							
	8.4. Critical control points and chain analysis	189							
	8.5. Quantitative risk assessment	189							
9.	HACCP software and traceability systems	190							
10.	RFID technology, standards and traceability	191							
11.	Conclusions	191							
Refer	rences	192							

1. Introduction

In this contribution we will consider the role of information systems in developing effective food safety management protocols and, in particular, the role of databases in achieving this objective. Information systems are concerned with the capture, storage, analysis and retrieval of data providing the opportunity for the cumulative gathering of knowledge and the capability for more informed interpretation of the significance of new data collected to monitor or investigate natural phenomena.

In food safety management a well worn, but still highly illustrative, analogy introduced in 1994 is that of "Cole's Cliff" (Zwietering, 2002) which holds that increasing knowledge of process/product/pathogen combinations and associated variability decreases uncertainty in achieving a positive food safety outcome. Thus, food safety management practices may be positioned closer to the cliff face without decreasing the probability of achieving the desired objective or increasing the probability of a fail-dangerous event.

2. Foodborne pathogens: enumeration and identification

Knowledge of microorganisms and the behaviour of microbial populations in foods for the purpose of developing effective food safety management strategies is required at the population level, the cellular level and the molecular level (McMeekin, 2003).

At the population level we are concerned principally with numbers of microorganisms which, depending on environmental conditions, will increase, decrease or remain static. The elements of the bacterial growth curve have been well characterised at the population level for more than half a century (Monod, 1949) and death kinetics have been described since the early 1900's (Bigelow, 1921; Chick, 1910; Esty and Meyer, 1922; Whiting, 1993). For a wide range of foodborne pathogens population response data has been synthesised into mathematical models that chart changes in pathogen density or describe environmental conditions precluding growth [see Ross and Dalgaard, 2004 for a comprehensive and definitive review of secondary models describing microbial population behaviour].

Whilst a numerical analysis of pathogen levels is the most useful type of information upon which to estimate the risk of foodborne illness, food safety management decisions are often based on "simply" recording the presence or absence of a pathogen in a food or the food processing environment. The decision not to quantify is, in the main, driven by pragmatic considerations of detecting a small number of pathogens with a low prevalence in a lot of food in which, if present, the microorganisms will be distributed heterogeneously or if the accept/reject criterion is based on the absence/presence of a pathogen.

The probability of detection of a particular pathogen is increased by resuscitation or non-selective enrichment of the sample during which damaged or dormant cells repair and start to divide. This is followed by manipulation of the diverse microbiota present in the enriched sample by selective enrichment during which more rapid development of a target organism is favoured. Selective enrichments are usually carried out in liquid media, the microbial components of which are further differentiated and physically separated by plating on solid selective and diagnostic media. Clones, derived from individual colonies, with the characteristics of the presumptive pathogen are subjected to taxonomic tests based on the composition of cellular components, physiological activity or analysis at the molecular level.

Clearly, databases containing information on microbial population behaviour or characteristics allowing the definitive identification of a foodborne pathogen have a very significant role to play in food safety management.

3. The philosophy underlying databases

The food environment can be very complex and it may be difficult to quantify or even to categorise some of its features and their potential effects on microbial population dynamics or the ability to recover a target organism from a food sample. An example is the effect of food structure, reviewed by Brocklehurst (2003) which may affect environmental limits for growth (Koutsoumanis et al., 2004).

An additional difficulty is that, with the background information on the environment and with currently available techniques to measure microbial responses both variability and uncertainty may be large (Ratkowsky, 2004). Variability in microbial characteristics such as growth rate or lag phase duration is well characterised and increases markedly with increasing response times. Its effect is seen in the widening confidence limits of response time estimates (Ratkowsky et al., 1996; Ratkowsky, 2004) and may even lead to inability to recover a target organism under conditions where growth is possible (Graham and Lund, 1993).

Variability and uncertainty in microbial responses were also discussed by Bridson and Gould (2000) in their treatise on classical versus quantal microbiology. Uncertainty, of course, also arises when information is missing or conflicting, events that regularly cause consternation in the conduct of quantitative risk assessments (Nauta, 2002). In such situations, the accumulation of MANY pieces of information is essential. An analogy can be conceived as follows: if one can take a picture of only a small segment of the sky then it is impossible to see the trajectory of the Milky Way from a single picture. However, when the pieces are put together, a pattern may emerge showing the now well-known spiral of the Milky Way. We will call this pattern, showing the potential of databases to put pieces of information together, the "Milky-way effect".

It is important to consider the above capitalisation of the word MANY. This requirement means that the information must be put in a well-defined systematic format, following a strict database protocol, otherwise no computer program can be developed to retrieve the information. Database is not the same as "datadump"! The fields of a database are created for a certain purpose (in the case of predictive models to represent Environment/Response mapping) and entering data in the field already requires categorisation, simplification i.e. food microbiology and modelling expertise. When, for example, the main environmental factors affecting microbial responses are identified, the same simplification is carried out as when a process is characterised by some mathematical variables. In other words, there is a parallel between mathematical abstraction and the creation of the database structure. The fields of the database correspond to mathematical variables: the relations between those fields correspond to mathematical equations and inequalities.

To introduce some philosophy, we will call the need for simplification, which is necessary to create a database, the "Platonian effect", since it was Plato who emphasized first that the scientific thinking needs these simplifications (i.e. idealisations). We will also speak about the "Gutenberg effect" of the databases. Namely, in the IT age, Internet databases have an effect analogous to that caused by the invention of printing. Before the 15th century, certain information, even if available, was not necessarily accessible, because hand-written books were too few to be available for everybody. Now, the amount of information (even if now in printed form) has become too large and a new technique, the FAST, ACCESSIBLE, RELATED database, has given new impetus to information processing. As the early creators of the first linked databases remarked, "Gutenberg could not make his books speak to each other".

Such a database called ComBase (Combined, or Common i.e. joint. dataBase of microbial responses to food environments) was launched at the 4th International Conference on Predictive Modelling in Foods, Quimper, France, June 2003. Its technical details can be read in Baranyi and Tamplin (2004) and on the website, www.combase.cc. The ComBase idea came from two independent, but similar, initiatives on both sides of the Atlantic. The Ministry of Agriculture Fisheries and Food in the United Kingdom initiated, in 1988, a coordinated program to collect data on the growth and death of bacterial pathogens. Those data served as the base on which the first validated, commercialised predictive package, Food MicroModel was built. The task of supporting these developments was taken over, when established, by the UK Food Standards Agency (FSA). Parallel to these events in the UK, the US equivalent of Food MicroModel called PMP (Pathogen Modeling Program: www.arserrc.gov/mfs/pathogen.htm) was developed at the Eastern Regional Research Center of the USDA Agricultural Research Service.

In the meantime, a database (*ComBase*) was being developed in the Institute of Food Research, Norwich, UK to pool available predictive microbiology data. Soon the leaders of FSA and USDA-ARS agreed that incorporating all their data in this common database, named *ComBase*, would be mutually beneficial. The European Commission also embraced the idea, and now the original Food MicroModel and PMP datasets have been supplemented with additional data submitted by supporting institutes, universities and companies mainly from Europe. Besides, data have also been compiled from the scientific literature.

ComBase has its "Milky way", "Platonian" and "Gutenberg" effect on predictive microbiology. Its "Milky-way effect" is obvious; the amount of data can compensate for the inaccuracy of the data. Le Marc et al. (2005) showed an example how to make use of the large amount of information provided by *ComBase* to define, at least approximately, the total growth region of *Listeria monocytogenes* in the space of the main environmental factors.

Numerically and computationally minded scientists are convinced that the "Platonian effect" of *ComBase* is very useful to bring more exact (mathematical and quantitative) elements in microbiology research. However, this is not necessarily popular among traditional microbiologists. Namely, many of them have a certain degree of aversion to the required simplifications, saying that the information in the database does not reflect the environment and/or microbial response with sufficient accuracy. The fact is, however, that is not the function of the database. It is, rather, to make the most important aspects of the data available FAST, even if at the expense of omitting some details. It should be admitted, that this bears some danger of distortion and subjectivity, but this has always been hand in hand with the *Platonian* idea of idealisation and simplification. In fact, different disciplines omit different details from the same phenomena. The contributors to *ComBase* omit those details that, according to our food microbiology knowledge accumulated so far, do not significantly influence the Environment/Response mapping. This also shows that the "*Platonian* effect" can play a role in the development of a scientific discipline only after many observations and empirical descriptions have become accepted knowledge about the system to be characterised.

The "Gutenberg effect" of *ComBase* is probably the most popular at the moment. Thousands of researchers, risk assessors, legislative officers, food manufacturers and their laboratory managers can access published and unpublished data fast and at no expense. Publicly available databases like *ComBase* and, in fact, the whole Internet, are virtual forums of democracy. Besides, they can be major tools in the assessment of predictive microbiology results. Users can compare observations with independent predictions gained from other software packages, which contribute to the correct evaluation of the potential and limitation of the discipline. *ComBase* is a repository of predictive microbiology data that can be used by risk assessors of different countries; therefore, if *ComBase* is accepted internationally as the benchmark, the number of sources generating different views on risk can be decreased.

4. Information systems and microbial systematics

Microbiology today encompasses a wide range of techniques reflecting advances in cognate areas, such as molecular biology. Similarly, bacterial systematics utilizes traditional biochemical and microscopic procedures through the most advanced analytical and molecular based systems (reviewed from a food microbiology perspective by Uyttendaele and Debevere, 2003). Fundamentally, bacterial taxonomy and classification can be considered as a method of encoding information about data defining a single life form. The ultimate goal is to achieve the briefest and densest possible recording of this information in order to maximise its precision, accessibility and to lend it interoperability. Interoperable databases are standardised in some uniform fashion so that different types of data (e.g. protein electrophoretograms, gene sequences and food composition data) can be integrated (e.g. Ravichandran et al., 2004).

Applied systematics has undergone a revolution in the last 15 years. However, diagnostic laboratory needs are generally far behind the rapid scientific advances emanating, almost on a weekly basis, from pure research laboratories. Similarly, database development and integration, in other words "Knowledge Management", lag behind technique development. Indeed, information systems have only recently become developed sufficiently to be able to handle the onslaught of information which is now a feature of the 21st century (reviewed by Liao, 2003). Online and offline databases continue to evolve and from this definitive microbial

identification. This carries with it an associated rich array of biochemical and genetic information which will benefit from the application of new and powerful biomathematical and computer programming techniques such as machine learning and neural networks (e.g. Gyllenberg et al., 2002).

However, for the most part, rapid identification in the majority of diagnostic laboratories relies on speed and simplicity and thus, use of streamlined semi- or fully-automated variations of traditional techniques (including serotyping and phenotypic testing) is still predominant (Uyttendaele and Debevere, 2003). Most species identification using such methods relies on databases of test results obtained for large numbers of strains for each species, usually species most commonly found in the diagnostic environment. For food microbiology this includes only about a dozen or so genera. As a result the data tends to be specifically very rich (several thousand strains analysed for each species are not uncommon) but often not integrated with other types of information. Typically, test results are converted to a numerical code format and require a dedicated computer program containing a proprietary database and are thus not available online. Examples of popular microbial identification tests systems include: API test strips (BioMérieux Corp.), Biolog carbon source utilization plates (Biolog, Inc.) and the BBL Crystal ID system (Becton-Dickinson, Corp.). Numerical taxonomic analyses of the test results provide a probabilistic determination of the species which are implemented as part of the heuristic database analysis. These methods are limited by the inherent variability (e.g. Bacillus spp.) or biochemical inertness (Campylobacter spp.) of various clinical species and can lead to misidentifications.

Various chemical based technologies also are used regularly in bacterial identification though rarely as a sole procedure. These include fatty acids analysis such as used in the Sherlock microbial identification system (previously called the Microbial ID or MIDI system) (MIDI, Inc.) which includes a large database of bacterial methyl ester-derivatized fatty acid profiles generated by gas chromatography, again of a proprietary nature. Though the Sherlock system is relatively inexpensive and simple to operate, fatty acid-based identification is usually only effective to genus level for many foodborne bacteria. Also several fatty acid components are only identified presumptively on the basis of retention time, while other components are not resolved fully. This can lead to difficulties in comparing MIDI data with other procedures.

Protein, and other chemical-based procedures, including gel electrophoresis, mass spectrometry and spectroscopy have important (potential) utility in bacterial systematics. SDS-PAGE in which crude protein extracts are denatured and separated by electric current in a polyacrylamide gel has had the most use in the comparison of multiple strains which are phenotypically hard to separate e.g. such as species of *Lactobacillus* (Venture et al., 2003). Electrophoretic methods separating specific enzymes (zymograms) may also be useful at the species or strain level (e.g. separating different enterolysins of enterococci) (Hickey et al., 2003). Few, if any, databases have been established for the purposes of taxonomy based on these types of data. Much more recently the application to bacterial systematics of sophisticated analytical instruments including Matrix assisted laser desorption/

ionization time-of-flight (MALDI-TOF) and quadruple ion trap mass spectrometry and Fourier transform infrared and Raman spectroscopy has been proposed (e.g. Lay, 2002; Jarvis and Goodacre, 2004). Though providing the exciting possibility of highly rapid (<1 min) real-time identifications, the methods still lack precision and reproducibility is affected by many experimental criteria (e.g. Williams et al., 2003). Refinements of these technologies with higher precision mass determinations of chemical components (such as protein and other chemical fragments) and technique standardization may lead to endpoint identifications of bacteria and development of integrable databases, especially with genome data (see below). The extremely high capital costs of the instruments (100-1000K\$ US) probably mean these will remain research tools only for the foreseeable future. Databases derived from such data may be also proprietary due to the significant investment of capital needed to develop them.

In bacterial taxonomy a taxonomic system is not fixed, once and for all, but is continuously updated as new data on existing taxa become available and new bacteria are discovered. This means that an unknown strain is either identified, that is, put into an already existing taxon, or, if it is sufficiently different (according to various criteria) from all established taxa, it forms a new taxon. This poses a problem for database management and information accessibility. Even keeping up with the expanding bacterial nomenclature can be daunting but, at least at the species level, it is possible with online resources such as the "List of Bacterial Names" database (Euzeby, 1997) or the online resources of various major culture collections e.g. CCUG, DSMZ, NCIMB and ATCC (see Euzeby, 1997 for contact information). Purely proprietary databases, which have to be updated continually, can represent a significant cost to the user. The internet, however, now provides cost effective, convenient and rapid access to huge volumes of integrated information and lends itself obviously to the large evolving and (potentially) interoperable databases. A good example particularly relevant to food microbiology is Pathogen Tracker v. 2.0 (developed through Cornell Univ., New York State) which includes extensive API and Biolog data (as well as various molecular data) for some food pathogens, which can be readily interrogated and has a provision for incorporating new data.

Increasingly, molecular techniques, gene sequencing (16S rRNA, gyrase large subunit, chaperonin 60) and fingerprinting methods (e.g. ribotyping, PCR of genomic repetitive elements and gene spacer regions, pulse field gel electrophoretic fingerprints) are finding widespread use for routine identification and epidemiology. Most unknown bacterial strains can be quickly identified by their 16S rRNA gene sequences by interrogating the GenBank nucleotide database as part of the National Collection of Biotechnology Information (National Library of Medicine, Bethesda, Maryland) which includes >80,000 16S rRNA gene sequences. Widely available and increasingly cheaper commercial nucleic acid kits, and high throughput DNA sequencing procedures have resulted in gene sequencing increasingly superseding the use of morphological and biochemical phenotypes in the initial identification of new bacteria, especially those from non-clinical sources. Indeed, a 16S rRNA gene sequence is

now a mandatory requirement for the description of new prokaryotic taxa. It is possible that gene- and genome-based technology may completely takeover from phenotypic analysis. Gene sequences can be used to identify directly bacterial strains en masse using a multiplicity of well-established and emerging nucleic acid amplification and probing technologies (some are reviewed by Sanderson and Nichols, 2003). From a diagnostic laboratory point of view such methods are not regularly used due to expense, required expertise and lack of validation (Uvttendaele and Debevere, 2003). Streamlined modifications of these procedures provide the possibility of such methods entering the diagnostic laboratory and provide a commercial impetus for larger more useful integrated databases. For example, loop mediated isothermal amplification (Nagamine et al., 2001) could allow single-tube detection of bacteria without use of thermocyclers or electrophoresis.

Finally, genomes are increasingly being used for bacterial systematics. For example genomic data reveals new insight into the relationship of virulence and taxonomic diversity in L. monocytogenes (Doumith et al., 2004). Comparative analysis of whole genomes also has revealed particular genes useful for the demarcation of new species (Zeigler, 2003) and could replace awkward procedures needed for definition of species at the genomic level. Genomic data when integrated with other information (as discussed above) will hopefully further the effectiveness and preciseness of taxonomy in general. At this stage whole genome data is difficult to manage though many databases have appeared in which this type of data can be mined (see http://www.hgmp.mrc.ac.uk/GenomeWeb/prokaryote-gendb.html for a list of bacterial genome database resources). It is likely in the future that rapid whole genome sequencing will become possible and that this information will be integrated with much other phenotypic, chemical, proteomic and phylogenetic data. Further advances in information technology techniques and data management will also obviously be required before this information can be used effectively.

4.1. Sources of further information

Many of the microbial identification systems outlined above are proprietary and further details are available from the manufacturers. Detailed information on microbial taxa and the availability of strains may be obtained from the databases and culture collections listed in Table 1.

5. Information systems and investigation of foodborne diseases

Above, the value of databases in microbial systematics to identify microorganisms at various taxonomic levels was discussed. Thus, characteristics constituting recognition of the presence of an organism in a sample as a member of the family Enterobacteriaceae, the genus *Escherichia* or the species *E. coli* provide useful information on the hygienic status of a product or a processing line. Further differentiation of the species *E. coli* 0157:H7 or *E. coli* 0111 which are well recognised causes of foodborne illness.

Table 1

A	list of	f commercial	and	l non-profit	organizations and	l internet	resources	useful	for	bacterial	taxonomy	and identification	1

Company	Product/function	Website	
Commercial bacterial identification systems:			
Becton-Dickinson, Corp., Franklin Lakes, New Jersey, USA	BBL Crystal ID system for microbial identification.	http://www.bd.com	
Biolog Inc, Hayward, California, USA.	Biolog microbial ID/characterization test trays.	http://www.biolog.com	
BioMérieux Corp., Marcy l'Etoile, France	API microbial identification test panels	http://www.bioMerieux.com	
MIDI Inc., Newark, Delaware, USA	Sherlock Bacterial Identification System and Fatty Acid MIDI System	http://www.midi-inc.com/	
Culture collection service providers:			
ATCC: American Type Culture Collection, Manassas, Virginia, USA.	Bacterial strain supplier; genomic analysis	http://www.atcc.org/	
LMG/BCCM, University of Gent, Gent, Belgium	Bacterial strain supplier; identification service	http://www.belspo.be/bccm/	
CCUG: Culture Collection, University of Göteborg, Sweden.	Bacterial strain supplier; identification service	http://www.ccug.gu.se/	
German Collection of Microorganisms, Braunschweig, Germany	Bacterial strain supplier; identification service	http://www.dsmz.de	
NCIMB, Ltd.: National Collection of Marine and Industrial Bacteria, Aberdeen, Scotland, UK	Bacterial strain supplier; identification service	www.ncimb.co.uk	
Other useful web-based resources and databases:			
List of Bacterial Names with standing in Nomenclature	Continually updated taxonomy database	http://www.bacterio.cict.fr (J. Euzéby)	
National Collection of Biotechnology Information.	GenBank nucleotide and protein database	www. ncbi.nlm.nih.gov	
Pathogen Tracker (v. 2.0)	Expanding food pathogen database	http://cbsusrv01.tc.cornell.edu/users/	
	for epidemiological applications	PathogenTracker/ pt2/login/intro.aspx	
Prokaryotic Genome Database	Cross-referenced database of bacterial genomic information		

Below we consider "finer" differentiation of pathogens for use in epidemiological surveillance, outbreak investigation and response.

5.1. Epidemiological surveillance of foodborne diseases

Public health surveillance is defined as the 'ongoing, systematic collection, analysis, interpretation, and dissemination of data regarding a health-related event for use in public health action to reduce morbidity and mortality and to improve health' (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 2001). One of the main aims of surveillance of foodborne diseases is to detect outbreaks. This allows public health investigators to identify the food responsible and prevent further cases. Surveillance of these diseases often relies on doctors and pathology laboratories reporting to health departments about patients infected with microorganisms, such as *Salmonella*, *Campylobacter* and *Listeria*. The proportion of these infections that are transmitted by food varies by pathogen, and can only be verified by investigation of multiple related human cases (Mead et al., 1999).

The nature of foodborne disease epidemiology has changed significantly in the last ten years, mainly due to more centralised production of large volumes of food and a wider array of choices available to consumers. There has also been significant improvement in laboratory diagnosis of many foodborne infections, such as those due to norovirus. These changes have lead to better recognition of large outbreaks that are distributed over a wide geographical area. Consequently, this has lead to a change in the way that investigators approach foodborne outbreaks, which is more dependant on information technology (Hedberg et al., 2003).

In the past ten years, information technology has revolutionised the conduct of surveillance for foodborne diseases. This has ranged from widespread use of free software for collection of epidemiological data, such as Epi Info (http://www.cdc.gov/epiinfo/) and Epidata (http://www.epidata.dk/), to web-based databases for surveillance of infections and outbreaks. Many countries, such as the United Kingdom (http://www.hpa.org.uk/infections/default.htm) and Australia (http://www.cda.gov.au/index.htm), make surveillance data, for infections that may be due to food, available on websites, either as static reports or dynamic datasets. For examples of countries reporting surveillance data on foodborne outbreaks, see the United States (http://www.cdc.gov/ncidod/dbmd/outbreak/us_outb.htm) and New Zealand (http://www.surv.esr.cri.nz/surveillance/annual_outbreak.php).

There have been moves in many countries to collect infectious disease surveillance data from doctors and laboratories electronically using standardised reporting formats (Effler et al., 1999). These systems are highly effective and provide better information than paper-based reporting (Effler et al., 1999; Backer et al., 2001). In practice, there are issues that are difficult to resolve for many health departments to receive data over the internet. These include privacy concerns, standard terminology and technological difficulties (Bean and Martin, 2001; Panackal et al., 2002). The more widespread introduction of electronic transfer will have many benefits for foodborne disease surveillance, which relies on timely information to properly interview infected patients (Widdowson et al., 2003).

5.2. Outbreak detection

Information technology advances have specifically allowed the development of surveillance tools that have assisted with the detection of outbreaks of foodborne disease. These include databases for the routine collection of reported infections to algorithms used to detect if counts of cases have increased above historical baselines (Stern and Lightfoot, 1999). Geographic information systems have also improved the ability of epidemiologists to detect spatial clustering (Hightower and Klein, 1995). However, probably one of the greatest changes in foodborne disease surveillance and control has been the use of molecular techniques in clinical laboratories combined with databases of genetic information.

A good example of a database of genomic information for foodborne pathogens is the PulseNet system established by the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (Swaminathan et al., 2001). The PulseNet system types human isolates of *Salmonella*, *Listeria*, and *E. coli* O157:H7 using Pulsed Field Gel Electrophoresis (PFGE) and relies on harmonised laboratory protocols for subtyping (Swaminathan et al., 2001). The resulting patterns are entered into a Bionumerics database, which is shared amongst participating laboratories. The system has assisted in identifying large complicated foodborne outbreaks and provides a library of DNA patterns for future reference during investigations (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 2000).

There are other databases available on the web, which allow genetic comparison of foodborne pathogens. One example is the norovirus sequence database in the United Kingdom that records strains causing infections over a ten-year period (http://www.hpa. org.uk/srmd/bioinformatics/norwalk/norovirus.htm). These databases are powerful tools for determining the source of foodborne infections and emerging trends of infections (Lopman et al., 2004).

Infectious diseases epidemiologists are also exploring more novel approaches to predict the occurrence of outbreaks using sophisticated modelling and neural networks (Black, 2002). However, these tools have not yet developed to the stage where they are more useful than traditional surveillance techniques for identifying epidemics.

5.3. Response to outbreaks

In responding to outbreaks, public health agencies rely heavily on communication networks. This is particularly important as foodborne outbreaks are more commonly spread over wide geographical areas, even internationally. The benefits of rapid communication using email have improved investigation of widely dispersed outbreaks (Sobel et al., 2002; Lindsay et al., 2002). Communication via email list servers allows people to discuss the changing nature of an investigation, as well as a novel means of contacting people affected by foodborne disease (Raupach and Hundy, 2003). Once a food is identified as the cause of an outbreak the internet is a useful vehicle for disseminating information globally. Two such public mailing lists that commonly disseminate information about foodborne and emerging infectious diseases are FSNET (http:// www.foodsafetynetwork.ca/) and Promed (http://www.promedmail.org). Posting information on these list servers about food responsible for foodborne outbreaks has resulted in the detection of international outbreaks (Kirk et al. 2004). The World Health Organization has established a Global Outbreak and Alert Response Network, which conducts surveillance of outbreak rumours posted on the internet through media outlets

and other sites (Heymann and Rodier, 2004). The primary aim of this type of surveillance is to detect and respond to outbreaks of international significance, which could encompass those caused by contaminated food.

6. Predictive microbiology application software

Development of models to predict growth, survival or inactivation of microorganisms in foods has been a most active area of food microbiology within the last 20 years and a considerable number of models to predict responses or growth limits in foods are available. Description of the types of model developed and a summary of currently available models in the public domain were presented by Ross and Dalgaard (2004).

Predictive microbiology involves the development of mathematical models of microbial population changes in food. It is based on the premise that the responses of populations of microorganisms to environmental factors are reproducible and that, by characterizing environments in terms of those factors that most affect microbial growth and survival, it is possible from past observations to predict the responses of those microorganisms in other, similar environments. To model microbial responses in foods a two step approach has been used widely: (i) "Primary" models are used to express changes in concentration of organisms over time using a limited number of kinetic parameters e.g. lag time, rates of growth or inactivation, maximum population reached, that together describe the change in the population size and (ii) "Secondary" models that express the effect of environmental parameters (e.g. temperature, NaCl, pH, etc.) on the kinetic parameters (Ross et al., 2000).

Predictive microbiology models are important tools for food safety management as they provide a scientific basis to underpin key aspects of HACCP and quantitative microbial risk assessment. Growth limit models in particular help identify potential microbial hazards in specific foods. Growth and inactivation models provide a quantitative link between measurements used to monitor processes (e.g. time, temperature, pH, and salt) and potential responses of specific pathogens. This information is useful when limits for critical control points need to be specified or corrective actions determined to achieve compliance with performance criteria (see e.g. Ross and McMeekin, 1995). Growth or inactivation of pathogens in foods along the farm-to-fork chain is fundamental to microbial risk assessment and predictive models, therefore, are key components in estimating consumer exposure to pathogens in foods at the time of consumption. Furthermore, predictive microbiology models are valuable for teaching and consulting (McMeekin and Ross, 2002). However, wider use of predictive models in industry, research and teaching depends on availability of application software that allows different users to obtain information from models in a rapid and convenient way. Available predictive microbiology application software packages are described below whereas more complex expert systems are discussed in Section 8.

Pathogen Modeling Program (PMP) is available free of charge (http://www.arserrc.gov/mfs/PATHOGEN.HTM) and,

with more than 5000 downloads per year, is the most widely used predictive microbiology application software. PMP has been available for about 15 years and is continually being updated and expanded. The present version includes more than 35 models for 11 bacterial pathogens (Tamplin et al., 2004). The software allows growth or inactivation of pathogens to be predicted for different combinations of constant temperature, pH, NaCl/aw and, in some cases, other conditions such as organic acid type and concentration, atmosphere, or nitrate. In addition, PMP includes models that predict the effect of cooling temperature profiles on growth of *Clostridium botulinum* and C. perfringens after cooking. Predictions can be exported and the software contains references to studies from which the models were developed. Lacking in PMP is information from validation studies showing the performance of models in specific foods as well as more general facilities to predict the effect of fluctuating temperature conditions on growth and inactivation.

The commercial software, "Food MicroModel", was in several ways similar to PMP but it is no longer available. However, data from Food MicroModel has been integrated in the Growth Predictor software available free of charge since 2003 (http://www.ifr.ac.uk/Safety/GrowthPredictor/). Growth Predictor v. 1.01 includes 18 models and allows predictions to be obtained at constant conditions of temperature, pH, NaCl/aw and, in some models, an additional fourth parameter. Predictions can be exported but the Growth Predictor software is simple and includes little information on model development and on the performance of models in different foods. Note that the reason for this simple functionality is that Growth Predictor is just a stop-gap solution before the new integrated ComBase-PMP (Combined Database and Predictive Microbiology Program) system is launched. It will combine the best features of the already mentioned ComBase database introduced in Section 4 (www.combase.cc) and the PMP predictive program supplied with new, improved models that would also be available via the internet.

Sym'previus (http://www.symprevius.net/) is a decision support system in French that includes (i) a database with growth responses of microorganisms in foods and (ii) predictive models for growth and inactivation of six pathogenic bacteria (Leporq et al., 2003). Information from Sym'previus is available on a commercial basis through contact centres as indicated on the homepage cited above.

The Food Spoilage Predictor ("FSP", Neumeyer et al., 1997), the Seafood Spoilage and Safety Predictor (SSSP, www. dfu.min.dk/micro/sssp/) (Dalgaard et al., 2003) and the Safety Monitoring and Assurance System (SMAS, Koutsoumanis et al., 2003) are examples of more specific predictive microbiology application software. These software include facilities to read product temperature profiles, as recorded by data loggers, and thus predict the effect of fluctuating temperatures on growth of microorganisms. Software analogous to FSP, but based on the *E. coli* growth rate model of Ross et al. (2003), is also under development. In addition to models for different seafood spoilage bacteria, SSSP includes a model to predict the simultaneous growth of *L. monocytogenes* and spoilage

microorganisms in sliced and vacuum packed cold-smoked salmon (Giménez and Dalgaard, 2004).

7. Quantitative microbial risk assessment software

Currently, there are no software packages specifically available for the application of predictive microbiology models within quantitative risk assessments. Simulation modelling software packages (e.g @Risk, Analytica, Crystal Ball) are often used for quantitative, stochastic, risk assessment and predictive microbiology models are embedded within them (e.g. Cassin et al., 1998; Fazil et al., 2002; Ross and McMeekin, 2003; Oscar, 2004). The application of predictive microbiology within quantitative microbial food safety risk assessment was discussed by Ross and McMeekin (2003).

Specific software tools to aid in microbial food safety risk assessment are, however, being developed. A food safety risk ranking decision aid in spreadsheet format was presented by Ross and Sumner (2002) and is available free of charge (http:// www.foodsafetycentre.com.au/riskranger.htm). The tool requires the user to select from qualitative statements and/or to provide data concerning factors that will affect the food safety risk arising from a specific food product and hazard, during the steps from harvest to consumption. The spreadsheet converts the qualitative inputs into numerical values and combines them with the quantitative inputs in a series of mathematical and logical steps using standard spreadsheet functions. Those calculations are used to generate indices of the public health risk. While there are many caveats surrounding its application, the tool offers a simple means of comparing foodborne risks from diverse products and serves as an aid to structured problem solving, helping to focus attention on those factors in food production, processing, distribution and meal preparation that most affect food safety risk.

FareMicrobial (http://www.foodriskclearinghouse.umd.edu/ faremicrobial.htm) is a more sophisticated software program for conducting probabilistic microbial risk assessment. The program was developed by a private company, Exponent (formerly Novigen Sciences, Inc.) at the request of and in conjunction with the United States' Food and Drug Administration. The software is an extension of the Novigen Foods Analysis and Residue Evaluation program, a multi-objective research program for mining patterns from food consumption databases and computing exposure distributions. While it incorporates algorithms developed for L. monocytogenes the system is said to be capable of performing risk assessment for a variety of foodborne pathogens (Exponent, 2004). Data from the U.S. Department of Agriculture's continuing food intakes survey are included in the program. Other systems are also under development in the USA (Don Schaffner, Rutgers University, New Jersey, pers. comm., 2004).

Various programming tools have been used for development of predictive microbiology application software and this is unlikely to change in the future. However, consensus-based specifications/ standards are lacking for input (temperature profiles, product characteristics) and output (kinetic parameters and predicted changers in concentration with time). These aspects need further study as this will increase the possibility of integrating predictive microbiology application software with other information systems e.g. traceability or expert systems and HACCP software.

8. The use of decision support systems in food safety management

8.1. Decision support systems and expert systems

Expert systems are systems imitating the performance of a human expert and can simulate human expert-like reasoning and decision making within a special domain of expertise (Linko, 1998). They can also be called knowledge based systems or decision support systems. The term decision support system can be considered more general, since those systems can also be very quantitatively oriented, using quantitative methods to support the making of decisions. The most promising is a merger of qualitative, knowledge based information, and quantitative information.

8.2. Food safety control

For control of food safety, HACCP is the most generally used system. It has changed food safety control from end-product testing to more effective control at those places in the process where the risk can be controlled to an acceptable level. This system can only be used effectively, if beforehand general hygiene is under control, by the use of, for example, good manufacturing processes (GMP). For even more elaborate general food safety control measures, for instance on a national or international scale, quantitative risk assessments (ORA) are increasingly carried out. For these analyses, quantitative methods as well as databases with quantitative data concerning microorganisms and food products and processes can be coupled. A problem, both for setting up HACCP plans and for carrying out QRAs, is often that quantitative data in some parts are missing or, in certain cases, not relevant for a specific application. On the other hand, expert knowledge exists, both in the form of real knowledge in experts' minds as well as knowledge existing in the scientific literature. Therefore, it is useful to combine quantitative parts of the analyses with qualitative knowledge. In parts where both qualitative and quantitative data exist, the former can be used in a confirmatory role and to provide more confidence in the quantitative determination. It may even show contradiction, necessitating more attention to a certain aspect. It is the combination of expertise, experiments, literature and quantitative microbiology that will be fruitful and not specifically a focus on one of these areas.

8.3. Hazard identification

One relevant part of both HACCP and QRA is the identification of hazards. This is often based on experience and qualitative reasoning. This experience can be very well structured in expert systems and even be improved by combining it with quantitative measures. The advantages of structured systems are the following:

• systematic, structured and transparent procedure: giving the same response if the same question is asked (not depending on place, time, person)

- speed of answer and continuous availability
- can be updated if new information becomes available

Examples of such systems for the identification of hazard were described by Zwietering et al. (1992), van Gerwen et al. (1997), and Wijtzes et al. (1998). These systems are based on a coupling of quantitative databases containing parameters of organisms and food products (pattern matching), in combination with welldefined qualitative knowledge rules. The strength of such systems can be explained with the following example, in which a group of eight students carried out a hazard identification for a vegetable product during a week based on a literature survey. This resulted in a list of potential hazards for the product. After this analysis the program was used and in 15 min almost the same list resulted. On first sight, the students did not see the advantage of using the system since it did not result in additional hazards. However, there were two important factors, the first being the time: the system resulted in almost the same result in 15 min, compared to 320 h of work. Secondly, the ability to compare the two results increases confidence that one approach does not overlook hazards. Therefore, both time investments were useful.

8.4. Critical control points and chain analysis

If within HACCP hazards are identified, one has to determine where these hazards can be controlled (CCPs) and to set critical limits. Carrying out these processes can be very well automated, having again the advantage of a structured, transparent automated system, in which quantitative aspects as well as qualitative knowledge can be combined. For example, the selection of CCPs following the HACCP approach (with a decision tree) can be automated and support in the selection of the answers can be given. All selections can be stored (with date/time/user) and all information, including potential changes in the information, can be traced back. Also, one can automatically check for completeness (are all hazards controlled, do all critical limits contain their target value and limits, etc.?) and measured values at CCPs can be entered (and automated) to enable automatic analyses, giving alerts if values are off limits or if trend analyses show structured deviations, although still within limits.

For process line analyses, combinations of quantitative and qualitative information are also of great utility. Examples of computer systems developed for line analysis to be used, for example, in HACCP or for quantitative risk assessment, are given in Table 2. In all these systems quantitative modelling techniques, product and organism data and qualitative knowledge are combined with a user-friendly user-interface, using various approaches.

8.5. Quantitative risk assessment

More and more extended quantitative risk analyses are being carried out. However, the outputs represent only those hazards and product groups for which they were designed. For other cases, and even for specific processing lines, reduced analyses can be very useful. A good example of a system that can help to carry out a specific analysis was developed by Ross and Sumner (2002). Just as with the hazard identification system, this system should not be viewed as giving definitive answers, but rather as giving a first analysis of the magnitude of the risk and also especially as a risk ranking tool. Although extended analyses can never be carried out for all product groups/process lines these extended QRAs (for example, HHS/USDA, 2003) contain a wealth of information that can be relevant for other analyses such as storage time and temperature distributions, serving sizes, general approaches and scenario analyses.

An important point mentioned by Ross and McMeekin (2003) is that systems are developed in which users are notified of model limits and warned against modelling unrealistic scenarios. Such extensions in tertiary type models are useful in order to make IT-tools flexible and, on the other hand, to warn the user if potentially dangerous conclusions are likely to be drawn.

All these quantitative and computational techniques can be very helpful in the management of food safety, but it is necessary to realize that every procedure, tool and approach has its strong points and weak points and that, overall, generally large uncertainties remain. It is important to use various information sources and not rely solely on one, noting the opinion first attributed to G.E.P. Box, that "all models are wrong, but some are useful". We would prefer to state that "many models are correct, but they are not perfect".

9. HACCP software and traceability systems

HACCP is the international reference system for food safety management and this system, relying on seven basic principles, is used extensively worldwide (NACMCF, 1997; CAC, 2001). As mentioned above information systems, including ComBase, predictive microbiology application software, risk assessment software and decision support systems, can be most useful when hazards, critical control points or critical limits are identified in the development of HACCP plans. HACCP is a structured approach that involves careful recording of all details and actions in order to provide documentation that a safety management system is in operation and in full control of all hazards in food processing. Clearly, information systems can facilitate the use of such a structured approach and several dedicated HACCP software have been developed. The number of available software is too large for individual programs to be discussed here but information about several HACCP software can be obtained from the following references (Mermelstein, 2000; http://peaches.nal.usda.gov/foodborne/fbindex/- HACCP.asp?subtopic=general; http://www.foodsafetycentre.com.au/fstoolkit/). HACCP software typically provides step-by-step instructions for development and documentation of HACCP plans e.g. with reference to specific regulatory requirements. In addition, these software substantially facilitate record keeping and thereby also internal and external auditing of HACCP plans and of the associated prerequisite programs. To identify hazards and critical control points decision trees consisting of a structured series of questions have been suggested (ILSI, 1997) and software makes it easy to use such trees.

Traceability or product tracing has been a hot topic within the food sector during the last several years. The European Food Law (EEC, 2002), which applies from January 2005, demands that

each business operator shall be able to identify their supplier and customer and on demand provide this information to the competent authorities. Interest in traceability is primarily stimulated by the need to withdraw from the market, as specifically as possible, a product, a production lot, or products originating from particular animals or crops, when these are suspected of being hazardous to human health. It remains uncertain how the requirements of the so-called 'one up, one down' traceability model demanded by EU will be enforced, but it seems most likely that paper-based record keeping, e.g. in relation to existing HACCP systems, will be sufficient.

Nevertheless, it has stimulated interest in electronic systems for chain traceability e.g. systems that communicate with finance software, business systems and work as an integrated part of production management. In this way, traceability systems can contribute to brand protection by making available information on e.g. origin of raw materials, processing history or other information of interest. With electronic chain traceability systems information only needs to be entered once rather than written down each time a raw material or product is processed, packed or repacked. This may reduce errors and results in savings, in some steps of a supply chain (Frederiksen et al., 2002; Denton, 2003; Furness and Osman, 2003; Larsen, 2003).

A number of companies that provide e-business solutions also provide traceability systems (Rowan, 2002). However, development of inexpensive and flexible systems that are suitable for small food businesses remains a challenge (Frederiksen et al., 2002). Another challenge includes exchange of data between chains and this problem is related to lacking specifications for electronic

Ta	bl	le	2

Examples of computer systems for use in HACCP or quantitative risk assessment

Reference	Subject
Zwietering et al. (1992), Wijtzes et al.	Pattern matching, data and knowledge
(1998), van Gerwen et al. (2000)	base, quantitative microbiology
Voyer and McKellar (1993)	Quantitative microbiology, expert system, flow chart
Adair and Briggs (1993)	Quantitative microbiology, data and
	knowledge base
Schellekens et al. (1994)	Quantitative microbiology, data and
	knowledge base, physical modelling
Zwietering and Hasting (1997a,b)	Quantitative microbiology, data base,
	physical modelling
van Gerwen et al. (1997)	Hazard identification, pattern matching,
	data and knowledge base
Brown et al. (1998)	Quantitative microbiology, physical modelling, stochastic modelling
Linko (1998)	Expert systems in food industry
Barker et al. (2002)	Bayesian belief network
Buche et al. (2002)	Fuzzy logic, data and knowledge base
Ross and Sumner (2002)	Risk ranking tool
Tuominen et al. (2003)	HACCP tool
HHS/USDA (2003)	QRA: scenario tools
Australian Food Safety Centre (2004)	Risk ranger (see Ross and Sumner,
	2002)
	Food Safety Toolkit [™] for development,
	implementation and maintenance of
	food safety strategy

traceability systems (Furness and Osman, 2003). As discussed below European projects have recently focused on these aspects.

The project Info-Fisk (Frederiksen et al., 2002) studied a fresh fish chain and demonstrated that an internet-based open system with full traceability from catch over collector, auction, wholesaler and final sale in a supermarket could be developed using 'off the shelf' hardware. The system relied on bar codes to identify for traceable units and XML for internet-based transfer of data between operators. The Info-Fisk system not only locates a product but also allows temperature measurements, or any other information, to be transmitted along the whole chain in real time and thus fish of known and documented time/temperature history to be marked.

The EU-funded project Tracefish has established specifications for holding and encoding of information for electronic traceability systems concerning seafood. The specifications are available on the projects homepage http://www.tracefish.org/. FoodTrace (http://www.eufoodtrace.org/) has focused on other food sectors and their suggested specification most likely become available during 2004.

10. RFID technology, standards and traceability

In recent years, Radio Frequency Identification (RFID) has received significant coverage by many interested parties. Much of the impetus for the use of this technology has come from the enormous drive that companies such as Wal-Mart (USA), Tesco (UK), Department of Defence (US) and Food and Drug Administration (FDA) in the US have provided in the area of commercialising what has been available for some 50-plus years as a new means of efficiently managing the supply chain.

The use of RFID tags and readers will revolutionise the way supply chain data is captured and communicated. In addition to the increased benefits perceived by the drivers, it will facilitate the link between the various parties touching the supply chain that traditionally viewed their role as neither relevant nor applicable to traditional supply chain practices. The supply chain is often treated separately to the traceability chain, but, in fact, co-exist together and all parties must consider that, whilst their roles and responsibilities may lie independently of each other, their impact on each other is not mutually exclusive.

How does the supply chain have an impact on or complement traceability and testing procedures within the food industry? For some 30 years, manufacturers of food and grocery items have been asked by their customers to apply bar codes to their products to enable the more efficient capture of data initially at the point of sale but, more so, within the entire supply chain. The use of such technology enabled increased accuracy, speed and sourcing of information that, in traditional retail environments, was labour intensive and not cost efficient. In the last five to ten years, a shift in understanding of the use of this technology has changed. More and more companies are realising the benefits of using this specific technology, global standards and emerging technologies not only to ensure their supply chains become more efficient but, more importantly, to leverage the technology to improve traceability requirements. However, to be able to gain leverage from existing and newer

technologies within the supply chain and move forward to the full use of technologies such as RFID, it is critical for all parties to understand the role of standards within this context.

To underpin the use of RFID tag technology, and for the more traditionally perceived bar code, common standards are required and this is where the EAN•UCC system comes into play. Regarded as the true global standard for product identification, attribute information, location numbering, asset tracking and logistic unit tracking, the EAN•UCC system is a global standard administered by over 100 similar, not for profit organisations throughout the world (see http://www.ean.com.au/). The system offers a standard to support supply chain best practice and is endorsed by, not only, the Fast Moving Consumer Goods industry but by over 24 industry sectors worldwide, including Health, Foodservice, Meat and Transport.

The fundamental principles of the EAN•UCC standards are based on the need for a common identifier, traditionally represented within a bar code. This common identifier, referred to as a Global Trade Item Number (GTIN), is the number that most people associate with the grocery trade experiencing it when they hear the common "beeps" from the scanners at their local supermarket.

Complementing the technology of bar codes is the emerging drive to utilise RFID within industries required to have full traceability. Be it food, transport units and assets to name a few, this technology can provide opportunity to capture data efficiently across trading partners within a supply chain and amongst participants not commonly linked within a traditional supply chain. However, a critical path to the successful adoption of this technology lies in standards. Hence, EAN•UCC have established EPCglobal Inc., a subsidiary of the EAN International and Uniform Code Council organisations to develop, administer and maintain the EPCglobal network, the standards and network for the application of RFID within the supply chain (see http://www.epcglobalinc.org/).

The EPCglobal network has a vision to be a network of databases around the world. Using the Internet, these databases are identified through a discovery service [the Object Naming Service (ONS)]. These track and trace product movement using a standard for communicating data between interested parties called the Physical Mark Up Language (PML). The Electronic Product Code (EPC) is the serialised identification of these items and, combined with the EPCglobal network, will provide for increased visibility and, thus, greater traceability.

The development of standards within this technology opens the world to potential opportunities to further connect trading partners, clinicians, scientists etc. to the world of information already available, but not necessarily accessible, due to proprietary systems.

11. Conclusions

The ability to manage microbial food safety risks has clearly benefited greatly from ready access to the wealth of knowledge pertaining to the types of pathogens found in foods and the effect of environmental conditions on the behaviour of those organisms at the population level.

Respectively, these uses demonstrate how databases are empowered:

- to match the compiled characteristics of a microorganism with those of a newly isolated strain for the purposes of identification and/or epidemiological investigation, and
- when combined with information on the environmental conditions pertaining during the processing, distribution and storage of food, to provide probabilistic or quantitative kinetic estimates of changes in microbial population densities.

In the latter application, the microbial food safety status of a food is predicted on the basis of prior knowledge by monitoring the food environment rather than by *de novo* microbiological studies.

As information systems become more sophisticated (e.g. RFID technology) and are combined with increasingly extensive microbial databases (e.g. *ComBase*), prospects for continual, real-time monitoring will take food safety management to new levels of precision and flexibility.

References

- Adair, C., Briggs, P.A., 1993. The concept and application of expert-systems in the field of microbiological safety. Journal of Industrial Microbiology 12, 263–267.
- Australian Food Safety Centre, 2004. Food Safety Tools: Risk Ranger and Food Safety ToolkitTM. www.foodsafetycentre.com.au.
- Backer, H.D., Bissell, S.R., Vugia, D.J., 2001. Disease reporting from an automated laboratory-based reporting system to a state health department via local county health departments. Public Health Report 116, 257–265.
- Baranyi, J., Tamplin, M., 2004. ComBase: a common database on microbial responses to food environments. Journal of Food Protection 67, 1967–1971.
- Barker, G.C., Talbot, N.L.C., Peck, M.W., 2002. Risk assessment for *Clostridium botulinum*: a network approach. International Biodeterioration and Biodegradation 50, 167–175.
- Bean, N.H., Martin, S.M., 2001. Implementing a network for electronic surveillance reporting from public health reference laboratories: an international perspective. Emerging Infectious Diseases 7, 773–779.
- Bigelow, W.A., 1921. Logarithmic nature of thermal death curves. Journal of Infectious Diseases 29, 538.
- Black, J.F.P., 2002. Applications of artificial neural networks in epidemiology: prediction and classification. PhD Thesis, Monash University, Victoria, Australia.
- Bridson, E.Y., Gould, G.W., 2000. Quantal microbiology. Letters in Applied Microbiology 30, 95–98.
- Brocklehurst, T., 2003. Challenge of the food environment. In: McKellar, R.C., Lu, X. (Eds.), Modeling Microbial Responses in Foods. CRC Press, Boca Raton, USA, pp. 233–242.
- Brown, M.H., Davies, K.W., Billon, C.M.P., Adair, C., McClure, P.J., 1998. Quantitative microbiological risk assessment: principles applied to determining the comparative risk of salmonellosis from chicken products. Journal of Food Protection 61, 1446–1453.
- Buche, P., Dervin, C., Brouillaud-Delattre, A., Gnanou-Besse, N., 2002. Combining fuzzy querying of imprecise data and predictive microbiology using category-based reasoning for prediction of the possible microbial spoilage in foods: application to *Listeria monocytogenes*. International Journal of Food Microbiology 73, 171–185.
- CAC (Codex Alimentarius Commission), 2001. Food Hygiene Basis Texts, 2nd ed. Food and Agricultural Organization/World Health Organization, Rome, Italy.

- Cassin, M.H., Lammerding, A.M., Todd, E.C.D., Ross, W., McColl, R.S., 1998. Quantitative risk assessment for *E. coli* 0157:H7 in ground beef hamburgers. International Journal of Food Microbiology 41, 21–44.
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 2000. Multistate outbreak of listeriosis — United States, 2000. Morb Mortal Weekly Report 2000 49, 1129–1130.
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 2001. Updated guidelines for evaluating public health surveillance systems: recommendations from the guidelines working group. Morb Mortal Weekly Report 2001 50 (No. RR-13), 1–35.
- Chick, H., 1910. The process of disinfection by chemical agents and hot water. Journal of Hygiene 10, 237–286.
- Dalgaard, P., Cowan, B.J., Heilmann, J., Silberg, S., 2003. The Seafood Spoilage and Safety Predictor (SSSP). In: Van Impe, J.F.M., Geeraerd, A.H., Leguérinel, I., Mafart, P. (Eds.), Katholieke Universiteit Leuven/BioTec, Belgium, pp. 256–258.
- Denton, W., 2003. Tracefish: the development of a traceability scheme for the fish industry. In: Luten, J.B., Oehlenschläger, J., Ólafsdóttir, G. (Eds.), Quality of Fish from Catch to Consumer — Labelling, Monitoring and Traceability. Wageningen Academic Publishers, Wageningen, pp. 75–91.
- Doumith, M., Cazalet, C., Simoes, N., Frangeul, L., Jacquet, C., Kunst, F., Martin, P., Cossart, P., Glaser, P., Buchrieser, C., 2004. New aspects regarding evolution and virulence of *Listeria monocytogenes* revealed by comparative genomics and DNA arrays. Infection and Immunity 72, 1072–1083.
- EEC, 2002. Regulation (EC) no. 178/2002 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 28 January 2002 laying down the general principles and requirements of food law, establishing the European Food Safety Authority and laying down procedures in matters of food safety. Official Journal of the European Communities 1.2.2002. 1–24.
- Effler, P., Ching-Lee, M., Bogard, A., et al., 1999. Statewide system of electronic notifiable disease reporting from clinical laboratories: comparing automated reporting with conventional methods. JAMA 282, 1845–1850.
- Esty, J.R., Meyer, K.F., 1922. The heat resistance of the spore of *B. botulinum* and allied anaerobes. XI. Journal of Infectious Diseases 31, 650–663.
- Euzeby, J.P., 1997. List of bacterial names with standing in nomenclature: a folder available on the Internet. International Journal of Systematic Bacteriology 47, 590–592 URL: http://www.bacterio.cict.fr/.
- Exponent, 2004. Probabilistic Risk Assessment using FareTM-Microbial. Downloaded from: http://www.exponent.com/practices/foodehcmical/ FAREbrochure.pdf.
- Fazil, A.M., Ross, T., Paoli, G., Vanderlinde, P., Desmarchelier, P., Lammerding, A.M., 2002. A probabilistic analysis of *Clostridium perfringens* growth during food service operations. International Journal of Food Microbiology 73, 315–329.
- Frederiksen, M., Østerberg, C., Silberg, S., Larsen, E., Bremner, A., 2002. Info-Fisk. Development and validation of an internet based traceability system in a Danish domestic fresh fish chain. Journal of Aquatic Food Product Technology 11, 13–34.
- Furness, A., Osman, K.A., 2003. Developing traceability systems across the supply chain. In: Lees, M. (Ed.), Food Authenticity and Traceability. Woodhead Publishing Ltd., Cambridge, pp. 473–495.
- Giménez, B.C., Dalgaard, P., 2004. Modelling and predicting the simultaneous growth of *Listeria monocytogenes* and spoilage microorganisms in coldsmoked salmon. Journal of Applied Microbiology 96, 96–109.
- Graham, A.F., Lund, B.M., 1993. The effect of temperature on the growth of non-proteolytic type B *Clostridiuum botulinum*. Letters in Applied Microbiology 16, 158–160.
- Gyllenberg, M., Koski, T., Dawyndt, P., Lund, T., Thompson, F., Austin, B., Swings, J., 2002. New methods for the analysis of binarized BIOLOG GN data of *Vibrio* species: minimization of stochastic complexity and cumulative classification. Systematic and Applied Microbiology 25, 403–415.
- Hedberg, C.W., Rigdon, C.E., Osterholm, M.T., 2003. White paper on applied epidemiology. Food Safety and Inspection Service. Docket No. 01-020N www.fsis.usda.gov/OPPDE/rdad/FRPubs/01-020N/EPIWhitePaper.pdf.
- Heymann, D., Rodier, G., 2004. Global surveillance, national surveillance and SARS. Emerging Infectious Diseases 10, 173–174.
- HHS/USDA, 2003. Quantitative Assessment of the Relative Risk to Public Health from Foodborne *Listeria monocytogenes* among Selected Categories of Ready-to-Eat Foods. www.foodsafety.gov.

- Hickey, R.M., Twomey, D.P., Ross, R.P., Hill, C., 2003. Production of enterolysin A by a raw milk enterococcal isolate exhibiting multiple virulence factors. Microbiology — SGM 149, 655–664.
- Hightower, A.W., Klein, R.E., 1995. Building a geographic information system (GIS) public health infrastructure for research and control of tropical diseases. Emerging Infectious Diseases 1, 156–157.
- ILSI (International Life Science), 1997. A Simple Guide to Understanding and Applying the Hazard Analysis Critical Control Point Concept. ILSI Europe, Brussels, Belgium.
- Jarvis, R.M., Goodacre, R., 2004. Discrimination of bacteria using surfaceenhanced Raman spectroscopy. Analytical Chemistry 76, 40–47.
- Kirk, M.D., Little, C., Lem, C., 2004. An outbreak due to peanuts in their shell caused by *Salmonella* serotypes Stanley and Newport sharing molecular information to solve international outbreaks. Epidemiology and Infection 32, 571–577.
- Koutsoumanis, K., Taoukis, P.S., Nychas, G.-J.E., 2003. Development of a Safety Monitoring and Assurance System (SMAS) for Chilled Food Products. In: Van Impe, J.F.M., Geeraerd, A.H., Leguérinel, I., Mafart, P. (Eds.), Katholieke Universiteit Leuven/BioTec, Belgium, pp. 244–246.
- Koutsoumanis, K.P., Kendall, P.A., Sofos, J.N., 2004. A comparative study on growth limits of *Listeria monocytogenes* as affected by temperature, pH and water activity when grown in suspension or on a solid surface. Food Microbiology 21, 415–422.
- Larsen, E., 2003. Traceability in fish processing. In: Lees, M. (Ed.), Food Authenticity and Traceability. Woodhead Publishing Ltd., Cambridge, pp. 507–517.
- Lay, J.O., 2002. MALDI-TOF mass spectrometry of bacteria. Mass Spectrometry Reviews 20, 172–194.
- Le Marc, Y., Pin, C., Baranyi, J., 2005. Methods to determine the growth domain in a multidimensional environmental space. International Journal of Food Microbiology 100, 3–10.
- Leporq, B., Membré, J.-M., Zwietering, M., Dervin, C., Buche, P., Guyonnet, J. P., 2003. The "Sym'Previus" Software, a Tool to Support Decisions to the Foodstuff Safety. In: Van Impe, J.F.M., Geeraerd, A.H., Leguérinel, I., Mafart, P. (Eds.), Katholieke Universiteit Leuven/BioTec, Belgium, pp. 55–57.
- Liao, S.H., 2003. Knowledge management technologies and applications literature review from 1995 to 2002. Expert Systems with Applications 25, 155–164.
- Lindsay, E.A., Lawson, A.J., Walker, R.A., 2002. Role of electronic data exchange in an international outbreak caused by *Salmonella enterica* serotype *typhimurium* DT204b. Emerging Infectious Diseases 8, 732–734.
- Linko, S., 1998. Expert systems what can they do for the food industry? Trends in Food Science and Technology 9, 3–12.
- Lopman, B., Vennema, H., Kohli, E., et al., 2004. Increase in viral gastroenteritis outbreaks in Europe and epidemic spread of new norovirus variant. Lancet 363, 682–688.
- McMeekin, T.A., 2003. Detecting pathogens in food. Woodhead Publishing Ltd. Cambridge, England/CRC Press, Boca Raton, USA, pp. 370.
- McMeekin, T.A., Ross, T., 2002. Predictive microbiology: providing a knowledge-based framework for change management. International Journal of Food Microbiology 78, 133–153.
- Mead, P.S., Slutsker, L., Dietz, V., et al., 1999. Food-related illness and death in the United States. Emerging Infectious Diseases 5, 607–625.
- Mermelstein, N.H., 2000. Software for food processing. Food Technology 54, 56–59.
- Monod, J., 1949. The growth of bacterial cultures. Annual Review of Microbiology 3, 371–394.
- NACMCF (National Advisory Committee on Microbiological Criteria for Foods), 1997. Hazard analysis and critical control point principles and application guidelines. Journal of Food Protection 61, 762–775.
- Nagamine, K., Watanabe, K., Ohtsuka, K., Hase, T., Notomi, T., 2001. Loopmediated isothermal amplification reaction using a nondenatured template. Clinical Chemistry 47, 1742–1743.
- Nauta, M., 2002. Modelling bacterial growth in quantitative microbial risk assessment. Is it possible? International Journal of Food Microbiology 38, 45–54.
- Neumeyer, K., Ross, T., McMeekin, T.A., 1997. Development of *Pseudomonas* predictor. Australian Journal of Dairy Technology 52, 120–122.

- Oscar, T.P., 2004. A quantitative risk assessment model for *Salmonella* and whole chickens. International Journal of Food Microbiology 93, 231–247.
- Panackal, A.A., M'ikanatha, N.M, Tsui, F.C., McMahon, J., Wagner, M.M., Dixon, B.W., Zubiela, J., Phelam, M., Mirza, S., Morgan, J., Jennigam, D., Pasculle, A.W., Rankin, J.T., Hajjeh, R.A., Harrison, L.H., 2002. Automatic electronic laboratory-based reporting of notifiable infectious diseases at a large health system. Emerging Infectious Diseases 8, 685–691.
- Ratkowsky, D.A., 2004. Model fitting and uncertainty. In: McKellar, R.C., Lu, X. (Eds.), Modeling Microbial Responses in Foods. CRC Press, Boca Raton, USA, pp. 233–242.
- Ratkowsky, D.A., Ross, T., Macario, N., Dommett, T.W., Kamperman, L., 1996. Choosing probability distributions for modelling generation time variability. Journal of Applied Bacteriology 80, 131–137.
- Raupach, J.C., Hundy, R.L., 2003. An outbreak of *Campylobacter jejuni* infection among conference delegates. Communicable Disease Intelligence 27, 380–383.
- Ravichandran, V., Lubell, J., Vasquez, G.B., Lemkin, P., Sriram, R.D., Gilliland, G.L., 2004. Ongoing development of two-dimensional polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis data standards. Electrophoresis 25, 297–308.
- Ross, T., Dalgaard, P., 2004. Secondary models. In: McKeller, R.C., Lu, X. (Eds.), Modeling Microbial Responses in Foods. CRC Press, Boca Raton, USA, pp. 63–150.
- Ross, T., McMeekin, T.A., 2003. Modeling microbial growth within food safety risk assessments. Risk Analysis 23, 179–197.
- Ross, T., McMeekin, T.A., 1995. Predictive microbiology and HACCP. In: Pearson, A.M., Dutson, T.R. (Eds.), Hazard Analysis Critical Control Point (HACCP) in Meat, Poultry and Seafoods. Blackie Academic and Professional, pp. 330–357.
- Ross, T., McMeekin, T.A., Baranyi, J., 2000. Predictive microbiology and food safety. In: Robinson, R.K., Batt, C.A., Patel, P.D. (Eds.), Encyclopedia of Food Microbiology. Academic Press, San Diego, pp. 1699–1710.
- Ross, T., Ratkowsky, D.A., Mellefont, L.A., McMeekin, T.A., 2003. Modelling the effects of temperature, water activity, pH and lactic acid concentration on the growth rate of *Escherichia coli*. International Journal of Food Microbiology 82, 33–43.
- Ross, T., Sumner, J., 2002. A simple, spreadsheet-based, food safety risk assessment tool. International Journal of Food Microbiology 77, 39–53.
- Rowan, C., 2002. Traceability. Food Engineering and Ingredients February 14-19.
- Sanderson, K., Nichols, D.S., 2003. Genetic techniques: PCR, NASBA, hybridisation and microarrays. In: McMeekin, T.A. (Ed.), Detecting Pathogens in Food. Woodhead Publishing Ltd., Cambridge, UK, pp. 259–270.
- Schellekens, M., Martens, T., Roberts, T.A., Mackey, B.M., Nicolai, B.M., van Impe, J.F., de Baerdemaeker, J., 1994. Computer-aided microbial safety design of food processes. International Journal of Food Microbiology 24, 1–9.
- Sobel, J., Griffin, P.M., Slutsker, L., Swerdlow, D.L., Tauxe, R.V., 2002. Investigation of multistate foodborne disease outbreaks. Public Health Report 117, 8–19.
- Stern, L., Lightfoot, D., 1999. Automated outbreak detection: a quantitative retrospective analysis. Epidemiology and Infect 122, 103–110.
- Swaminathan, B., Barrett, T.J., Hunter, S.B., Tauxe, R.V., 2001. PulseNet: the molecular subtyping network for foodborne bacterial disease surveillance, United States. Emerging Infectious Diseases 7, 382–389.
- Tamplin, M., Baranyi, J., Paoli, G., 2004. Software programs to increase the utility of predictive microbiology information. In: McKellar, R.C., Lu, X. (Eds.), Modeling Microbial Responses in Foods. CRC Press, Boca Raton, USA, pp. 233–242.
- Tuominen, P., Hielm, S., Aarnisalo, K., Raaska, L., Maijala, R., et al., 2003. Trapping the food safety performance of a small or medium-sized food company using a risk-based model. The HYGRAM (R) system. Food Control 14, 573–578.
- Uyttendaele, M., Debevere, J., 2003. The use of applied systematics to identify foodborne pathogens. In: McMeekin, T.A. (Ed.), Detecting Pathogens in Food. Woodhead Publishing Ltd., Cambridge, UK, pp. 332–359.
- van Gerwen, S., de Wit, J.C., Notermans, S., Zwietering, M.H., 1997. An identification procedure for foodborne microbial hazards. International Journal of Food Microbiology 38, 1–15.
- van Gerwen, S.J.C., te Giffel, M.C., van't Riet, K., Beumer, R.R., Zwietering, M.H., 2000. Stepwise quantitative risk assessments as a tool for

characterisation of microbiological food safety. Journal of Applied Microbiology 88, 938-951.

- Venture, M., Canchaya, C., Maylan, V., Klaenhammer, T.R., Zink, R., 2003. Analysis, characterisation and loci of the tuf genes in *Lactobacillus* and *Bifidobacterium* species and their direct application for species identification. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 69, 6908–6922.
- Voyer, R., McKellar, R.C., 1993. MKES tools a microbial kinetics expertsystem for developing and assessing food-production systems. Journal of Industrial Microbiology 12, 256–262.
- Whiting, R.C., 1993. Modeling bacterial survival in unfavourable environments. Journal of Industrial Microbiology 12, 240–246.
- Widdowson, M.A., Bosman, A., van Straten, E., et al., 2003. Automated laboratory-based system using the Internet for disease outbreak detection, the Netherlands. Emerging Infectious Diseases 9, 1046–1052.
- Wijtzes, T., van 't Riet, K., Huis in 't Veld, J.H.J., Zwietering, M.H., 1998. A decision support system for the prediction of microbial food safety and food quality. International Journal of Food Microbiology 42, 79–90.

- Williams, T.L., Andrzejewski, D., Lay, J.O., Musser, S.M., 2003. Experimental factors affecting the quality and reproducibility of MALDI TOF mass spectra obtained from whole bacteria cells. Journal of the American Society for Mass Spectrometry 14, 342–351.
- Zeigler, D.R., 2003. Gene sequences useful for predicting relatedness of whole genomes in bacteria. International Journal of Systematic and Evolutionary Microbiology 53, 1893–1900.
- Zwietering, M.H., 2002. Quantification of microbial quality and safety in minimally processed foods. International Dairy Journal 12, 263–271.
- Zwietering, M.H., Hasting, A.P.M., 1997a. Modelling the hygienic processing of foods — a global process overview. Trans I Chem E, vol. 75, pp. 159–167.
- Zwietering, M.H., Hasting, A.P.M., 1997b. Modelling the hygienic processing of foods — influence of individual process stages. Trans I Chem E 75, 168–173.
- Zwietering, M.H., Wijtzes, T., de Wit, J.C., van 't Riet, K., 1992. A decision support system for prediction of the microbial spoilage in foods. Journal of Food Protection 55, 973–979.